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RESTRICTED PROCEDURE FOR THE ALLOCATION OF A CONSTRUCTION AND MANAGEMENT CONTRACT PURSUANT TO 

ART.   153, PARAGRAPHS 1-14, OF THE ITALIAN LEGISLATIVE DECREE NO. 163 OF 12 APRIL 2006 (PROJECT FINANCING) scope of 

the call:  THE FINAL AND EXECUTIVE PLANS OF THE FIRST PHASE OF CONSTRUCTION OF "PIATTAFORMA EUROPA" IN THE 

PORT OF LIVORNO, INCLUDING THE CONTAINER TERMINAL AND ALL ANCILLARY WORKS, AS WELL AS  WORKS FOR THE 

COMPLETION, EQUIPPING AND OPERATION OF THE TERMINAL NECESSARY FOR PORT OPERATIONS in compliance with art. 16 

of Law 84/1994 CIG: 6548209901; CUP B41H15000170005 

 

CLARIFICATIONS PUBLISHED  

ON 13 DECEMBER 2016 

 

 
1) Q. If a competitor intends to execute the works with its own company organisation, pursuant 

to art. 61, paragraph 6 of the Italian Presidential Decree  No. 207 of 5 October 2010, is it 

foreseen that the same competitor, in addition to being included in the SOA categories, must 

have achieved a turnover through works performed directly or indirectly, not below 2.5 times 

the amount of the works that are the object of the concession for each works category. Said 

turnover must have been achieved in the five years prior to the publication of the Call for 

tenders in the G.U.R.I. (Official Gazette of the Italian Republic). Please clarify whether the 

turnover must be understood as being not below 2.5 times the cost of the works that are the 

object of the concession. 

R. It is confirmed that, pursuant to art. 61, paragraph 6, of the Italian Presidential Decree. n. 207 of 5 

October 2010, the turnover  achieved with works performed via direct and indirect activities during the 

five years prior to the publication of the Call for Tenders in the Official Gazette of the Italian 

Republic, must not be below 2.5 times the cost of the works that are the object of the concession.  

 

2) Q. A competing subject that is not interested in performing any of the operations that are 

included in the object of the concession (works, planning and designing, terminal management) 

may take part in the call, pursuant to art. 95, paragraph 3, of the Italian Presidential Decree no. 

207/2010, if it possesses the prerequisites detailed in art. 95, paragraph 1, letters a), b), c) and d)? 

R. Pursuant to art. 95 of Italian Legislative Decree no. 163/2006 “if the concessionaire does not 

execute the works that are the object of the concession directly, it must exclusively fulfil the requisites 

detailed under  paragraph 1, letters a), b), c), and d)”. Therefore, a subject that does not intend to 

execute the works that are the object of the concession directly may bid for the tender; with regard to 

its participation, the same subject must fulfil the requisites indicated under point III.1.2), lett. a) and b) 

of the Request for Tenders (point 7.1, lett. a) and b), lett. a) and b) of the Tender Regulations) and the 

requisites detailed under point III.1.3, lett. a) and b) of the Request for Tenders (point 7.2. lett. C), lett. 

a) e b) of the Tender Regulations). 

 

3) Q. Can a competitor participate by stating that, in the event that it is awarded the tender, it 

shall allocate the construction works to third parties via an appropriate public tender 

procedure? 

R. Yes. The competitor can participate in the tender bid by stating that, in the event that it is awarded 

the tender, it shall allocate the construction works in compliance with artt. 142 and following of Italian 

Legislative Decree no. 163/2006. R. Pursuant to art. 95 of Italian Legislative Decree no. 163/2006 “if 
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the concessionaire does not execute the works that are the object of the concession directly, it must 

exclusively fulfil the requisites detailed under  paragraph 1, letters a), b), c), and d)”. Therefore, a 

subject that does not intend to execute the works that are the object of the concession directly may bid 

for the tender; with regard to its participation, the same subject must fulfil the requisites indicated 

under point III.1.2), lett. a) and b) of the Request for Tenders (point 7.1, lett. a) and b), lett. a) and b) of 

the Tender Regulations) and the requisites detailed under point III.1.3, lett. a) and b) of the Request for 

Tenders (point 7.2. lett. C), lett. a) e b) of the Tender Regulations).  

 
4) Q. Can a competitor, not in possession of the appropriate management requisites, but 

possessing the construction firm requisites, take part in the pre-qualification phase while 

reserving the right to indicate an appropriate manager at the time of making the offer?   

R. No. The competitor possessing the necessary requisites for the construction activities, but devoid of 

the necessary requisites for the management of the facility, during the pre-qualification phase must 

indicate a subject possessing the requisites to apply to manage the facility.  

 
5) Q. May the competitor participate in the pre-qualification phase while reserving the right to 

indicate an appropriate designer at the time of presenting the offer? 

R. No. The competitor must indicate a subject possessing the requisites required for the executive 

planning of the works during the pre-qualification phase. 

 
6) Q. Is a construction competitor that has bid for the tender without being awarded the 

concession entitled to participate in the request for tenders announced by the concessionaire 

awarded the works that will allocate the works to third parties based on a public tendering 

procedure. 

R. Yes. The participation in the tender does not prejudice the participation in tenders announced 

subsequently by the concessionaire awarded the tender. 

 

7) Q. Does the fact that the duration of the concession includes the terminal design and 

construction times, represent a critical aspect in terms of the certainty of the actual duration of 

the management phase? 

R. It is foreseen that the contracting authority will publish an integration notice to the Request for 

Tenders in relation to the issue of the duration of the concession.   

 

8) Q. In the Request for Tenders there is no reference to the concessionaire fee that is to be 

applied by the Livorno Port Authority.  

R. This aspect will be outlined in the invitation letter. 

 

9) Q. Does the report "Competitive analysis and traffic forecasts for the Livorno European 

Platform" take into account the recent evolution of the market? 

R. The report in question has been updated up to March 2015. This report considers the traffic 

forecasts of the interested ports and among these also those relative to the Port of Civitavecchia up 

until the date indicated above. It will be up to the competitors to develop the required economic and 

financial studies, relative to the future evolution of markets, at the time of drafting their offer. 
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10) Q. Can the concessionaire of facilities close to the work area in question be allowed to 

participate in this tender?  

R. All subjects, whether singly or in association are entitled to participate in the tender as prescribed 

by art. 34 of the Italian Legislative Decree  no. 163 of 12 April 2006, in compliance with the 

prescriptions of artt. 35, 36, and 37 of Italian Legislative Decree no. 163 of 12 April 2006, as 

prescribed by point III.1.1) of the Request for Tenders (Point 3.1 of the Tender Regulations). 

 

11) Q. Is it foreseen that the concessionaire of facilities bordering on the areas affected by the 

works in question shall have the operation of their terminal safeguarded even during the 

preparatory and construction works for the new facility? 

R. The operation of terminals bordering on the areas affected by the works  and managed under 

concession shall be safeguarded even during the preparatory and construction works of the new 

facility. 

 

12) Q. May the subject that shall be awarded the tender in question be entitled to participate in 

future requests  for tenders for the execution of works not included in the procedure currently 

underway as detailed by point II.1.3) – letter a) of the Request for Tenders? 

R. In the tender procedure for the assigning of the execution of the works detailed under point II.1.3) – 

letter a)  of the request for tenders, any incompatibility ensuing from the allocation of previous 

assignments in the interest of the Livorno Port Authority, will be assessed at the time of verifying the 

requisites possessed by the successful bidder.  

 

13) Q. May a parent company of company X that has drafted a study on the European Platform 

on behalf of the Port Authority, take part in the tender? 

R. Any incompatibility ensuing from the allocation of previous assignments on behalf of the Livorno 

Port Authority will be assessed at the time of verifying the requisites possessed by the successful 

bidder. in accordance with the pertinent legal provisions, including paragraphs 8 and 8-bis of Art. 90 

of Italian Legislative Decree no. 163/2006. The invitation letter will contain a reference to the fact that 

in some instances documentation must be produced to show that the experience acquired in the 

performance of the assignment cannot have distorted competition.  
 
14) Q. Can the Company X that has performed certain activities (e.g. the Feasibility Study, the 

Urban Planning Regulations) on behalf of the Livorno Port Authority still participate in the 

tender? 

R. Any incompatibility ensuing from the allocation of previous assignments on behalf of the Livorno 

Port Authority will be assessed at the time of verifying the requisites possessed by the successful 

bidder. in accordance with the pertinent legal provisions, including paragraphs 8 and 8-bis of Art. 90 

of Italian Legislative Decree no. 163/2006. The invitation letter will contain a reference to the fact that 

in some instances documentation must be produced to show that the experience acquired in the 

performance of the assignment cannot have distorted the competition. 

 

15) Q. Can the 'indicated' qualified designer, though he/she may not take on the role of 

competitor, take advantage of a pooling procedure?   

 

R. Based on established national administrative case law, it is believed that the qualified designers 

indicated by the competitor may not take advantage of a pooling procedure.  
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The above is confirmed by the recent Order No. 636/2015 with which the State Council has deemed 

necessary to present the European Court of Justice with the question of whether art. 53, paragraph 2 of 

Italian Legislative Decree no. 163 of 16 April 2006, is compatible with community regulations in so 

far as it "admits the participation of a company with an "indicated" "designer who, according to 

national case law, not being a competitor, may not take advantage of any form of pooling".  

 

16) Q. Please provide further clarifications (also on behalf of operators from countries other 

than Italy) on the work classes and categories indicated on page 7. of the Request for Tenders 

(Section III.1.3. - "Technical capacity"), points B. 2) and B.3) and on page 13, paragraph 7.2, 

points B. 2) and B.3) of the tender regulations that refer to the full completion within the last ten 

years prior to the date of publication of the Request for tenders for services as detailed in art. 

252 of the Italian Presidential Decree no. 207 of 5 October 2010. 

 

R. The reference is to the categories of works and the relative cost of the works detailed in Table 4 of 

the Illustrated Technical Report based on the Feasibility study; in more specific terms it relates to the 

following: 

 

Works identification Work cost (euro) 

D.01 Internal and port navigation works 443,060,000 

S.05 Dams, retaining and defence works, embankments, landfills, tunnels, 
underground and underwater works, special 
foundations 

44,625,000 

V.02 Standard roads and railways 152,455,000 

IA.01 Water and purification network systems 16,200,000 

IA.03 Electrical, lighting, telephone, fire detection, photo-voltaic systems 
ancillary to the construction works 

11,610,000 

 

 

 

17) Q. In the table included under point no. 18.6 of the attachment no. 6 "Self-declaration 

affidavit regarding general and special requisites for designers/planners", must one indicate all 

the technicians that belong to the planner's staff, even though they are employees of the same, in 

order to meet the requirement indicated under point 7.2 lett. B) no. 4 of the request for tenders? 

R. As required by  point no. 18.6 of attachment no. 6 "Self-declaration affidavit regarding general and 

special pre-requisites for planners", it is essential to indicate all the subjects (technicians that belong to 

the planners staff, or referenced and associated planners) that possess the general, technical and 

professional requisites called for by the tender documents.  

 

18) Q. Must the subjects indicated in the table reported under point n. 18.6 of Attachment no. 6 

"Self-declaration affidavit regarding general and special requisites for planners" each fill in 

Attachment 6 individually, even if they are employees of the planners technical organisation? 

R. If the subjects indicated in the table reported under point n. 18.6 of the Attachment no. 6 "Self-

declaration affidavit regarding general and special pre-requisites for planners"  are employees of the 

planners technical organisation, Attachment 6 can be filled in by the legal representative of the 

technical planning organisation on behalf of its employees. 
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19) Q. Is the prescribed indication of SOA certification for category 0S20B - Geognostic 

Investigations - Classification IV, found under point no. 19 of Attachment 6 "Self-declaration 

affidavit regarding general and special requisites for planners"  a misprint?  

R. Yes. It is a misprint. 

20) Q. Can the geognostic and environmental activities be subcontracted 100%?  

R. Yes. 

 

21) Q. Is it possible to have a copy of the requested declaration forms in English? 

R. The documentation translated into the English language may be found on the Livorno Port 

Authority's institutional website, in the English version, at the link below: 

http://www.porto.livorno.it/en-us/homepage/services/listoftenders/tenderswithdeadlines.aspx. 

It should be noted however that all the texts translated into the English language have the sole purpose 

of facilitating the understanding of the Italian version. 

Therefore, the contracting authority cannot be deemed responsible regarding any discrepancies these 

translations may contain compared to the matching version of the text in the Italian language, which is 

the only official language of the tender procedure. 

 

22) Q. If a vertical grouping of planners/designers is considered, please let us know if what we 

have outlined below can be considered correct: 

Vertical Temporary Business Groupings: 

parent company: possessing 100% of the requisites in a prevailing category + 100% of 1 

subcontractable category; 

Principal:  100% of 2 subcontractable categories.       

 

R. This is correct. 

 

23) Q. Is it possible to indicate a foreign professional (a national of a member state of the 

European Community) as safety coordinator during the preliminary planning phase, who is not 

authorised in compliance with Italian Legislative Decree no. 81/09, but performs the same role in 

the country he resides in?  

R.The operators from countries other than Italy must indicate a planner entitled to perform said 

activity in Italy, as prescribed by Italian Legislative Decree 81/2008. 

 

24) Q. In the event of participation by a Temporary Grouping of planners/designers (which 

envisages the indication of a professional who has been registered for less than five years), what 

documentation is required as proof of this requirement from countries where this kind of 

registration is not foreseen? 

R. As proof of requisite fulfilment, the companies are required to present documentation that complies 

with the current regulations in their country and suitable to prove possession of all qualification 

requirements. In this case in point the documentation must prove that the professional has been 

registered as a professional in his particular field for less than 5 years.  

 

http://www.porto.livorno.it/en-us/homepage/services/listoftenders/tenderswithdeadlines.aspx
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25) In relation to the answer to question 23, please clarify whether a foreign operator can 

indicate as safety coordinator for the planning phase a professional who is not an employee but is 

employed by another subject, without being included in the Temporary Business Groupings. If 

the answer is negative we ask if it is possible to indicate another professional not employed by 

the planner/designer but with whom one may sign an intellectual property contract specifically 

for the tender?  

 

R. A foreign operator may not indicate as safety coordinator for the planning phase a professional who 

is not an employee but is employed by another subject, without said safety coordinator being indicated 

in the Temporary Business Groupings. 

It is possible to indicate another professional not employed by the planner/designer but with whom one 

may sign an intellectual property contract. 

 

26) Q. With regard to the technical/organisational requirement indicated on page 13 of the 

Tender Regulations under paragraph B.3, we ask for clarifications as to whether the value of 

0.40% of the amount of the works requested should be considered as the sum of two services, as 

indicated in the following table: 

 

 

Categories Sum of service 1 + service 2 

Internal and port navigation works €177,224,000.00 

Dams, retaining and defence works, embankments, landfills, 
tunnels, underground and underwater works, special 
foundations 

€ 17,850,000.00 

Standard roads and railways € 60,982,000.00 

Water and purification network systems € 6,480,000.00 

Electrical, lighting, telephone, fire detection, photo-voltaic 
systems ancillary to the construction works 

€ 4,644,000.00 

 

R. No. The value of 0.40 times the amount estimated for the works to which the service refers 

should not be considered as the sum of two services. Over the course of the last ten years prior to 

the publication of the Request for Tenders on the Official Gazette of the Italian Republic, the 

competitor must have completed two separate services for the amount indicated under 

paragraph B.3 of the Tender Regulations. 

 

27) Q. Will the final and integral version of the feasibility study be made available with the 

invitation letter? 

R. Yes. 

 

28) Q. Should the preliminary project be (i) drafted with reference to all the contents detailed in 

artt. 17 and following of the Italian Presidential Decree 207/2010; (ii) limited only to the elements 

mentioned in the technical specifications of the feasibility study?  

R. The preliminary project must comply with the contents of the Feasibility study made available with 

the invitation letter. The feasibility study, in fact, represents the starting point for the subsequent 

preliminary planning phase that the companies participating in the tender must draft.   Furthermore, the 
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project must be developed with reference to artt. 17 and following  of the Italian Presidential Decree 

207/2010. 

 

29) Q. Should the preliminary project contemplate and therefore comply with all or just a few 

(and in which case, which) of the elements made available by the Contracting Authority (for 

example the issue of the size of the concept design)? 

R. Besides referring back to what has already been indicated in the reply to question no. 28, the 

preliminary project must be compliant with the contents of the tender documentation. 

 

30) Q. With regard to answer n. 25 and the possibility of indicating another professional not 

employed by the planner/designer but with whom one can sign an intellectual property contract 

specifically for this tender, we would like to ask whether at the pre-qualification phase he/she 

should only be indicated in the planner's documents or if it is necessary to produce the 

intellectual property contract at this stage? We also ask whether the same will be required to fill 

in any of the statement forms provided by the contracting authority. 

R. It is not essential to produce the intellectual property contract. In filling attachments nos. 3 and 6 of 

the tender documentation the name and surname of the person selected must be provided along with 

any related references.   

31) Q. With regard to answer no. 26 regarding the two "key" services, we ask:   

1) "Must the two key services necessarily be two services for port works containing all the 

categories (service 1 and service 2 containing all requested categories) or could they be services 

other than port services but that include both the categories requested?  

2) Is it possible to indicate services for different categories?  

for example:   

• 2 key services (X + X1) that cover category D01-  

• 2 key services (Y + Y1) that cover category D.01 and V.02  

• 2 key services (B+B1) that cover category S05 until all categories have been covered?  

3) Where a Temporary Consortium of planners is envisaged is it possible that the principal 

cover the 2 key services in the prevailing category D01 and the 2 services in category S05 and 

the principal of the main services in the remaining categories?" 

R. 

1) The requirement concerns the successful completion,, within the 10 years prior to the publication 

of the Request for Tenders in the Official Gazette of the Italian Republic, of the two services detailed 

in art. 252 of the Presidential Decree  207/2010 related to the works: 

a. pertaining to each of the categories indicated; 

b. referred to types of works similar in size and technical characteristics to those that are the object of 

the assignment. 

2) The reference is to the services detailed under art.  252 of the Presidential Decree  287/2010 

(services concerning the architecture and engineering, even where integrated and the other technical 

services concerning the drafting of the preliminary project, the final and executive project as well as 

the technical and administrative activities connected to the planning phase) pertaining to each of the 
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categories detailed in the table. The competitors during the period in question must have performed 

two services for each of the work categories that are the object of the tender, these services need not 

necessarily be unique for all the categories, as it is possible to present various couples of services, 

each concerning even just one of said categories. 

3) With reference to the requirement detailed under point 7.2 lett. B) number 3), the services can 

have been performed by a number of designers that are part of the Temporary Business Groupings, it 

being understood that it this case the two services belonging to the same category, must in any case 

have been carried out by one designer belonging to the Temporary Business Grouping and for the 

entire amount (see page 16, second paragraph, of the Tender Regulations). 

 

32) Q. With regard to the design requirements indicated in the tender regulations under point 

7.2 letter B.3, relative to the 2 "key" services, we wish confirmation that the two services to be 

taken into consideration do not necessarily have to be carried out in the same context as the one 

involved in this tender. 

For example: 

• category V02 can be covered with two Road services not designed in a Port context 

• each for a sum equal to or greater than € 60,982,000; 

• category IA.03 can be covered with two Special Electrical System services not designed in a 

Port context each for a sum equal to or greater than € 4,644,000.00 

R. Besides suggesting reference should be made to the reply supplied for question no. 31, the 

services to be taken into consideration must be referred to similar types of works in terms of size and 

technical characteristics as those that are the object of the assignment (not necessary with an identical 

functional purpose) while ensuring that the degree of complexity is at least equal to that of the 

services to be assigned. 

 

33) Q. Please confirm as indicated in the Illustrated Technical Report that the cost of the works 

for the design category D01  internal and port navigation works amounts to € 443,060,000, 

while the amount for the Structural part alone amounts to € 44,625,000. 

R. The cost of the works indicated in Table 4 of the Technical Report that illustrates the contents of 

the Feasibility Study are confirmed (including those relative to "internal and port navigation works" 

and "Special structural works").  

 

34) Q. Given the possibility for the legal representative of the technical design team to fill in the 

Self-declaration affidavit with the general and special designer requisites  on behalf of its 

employees, we ask if said declaration can be completely omitted if the designers indicated in the 

design team are employees of the bidding company. If it were not possible to omit said 

declaration we ask that a new statement be made available on the portal (legal representative 

statement for its employees included in the Design Team) that is clearer and simpler. 

R. The legal representative of a competing Professional Corporation can provide a statement 

confirming the absence of reasons for exclusion as prescribed by art. 38 of Italian Legal Decree 

163/2006 with an express reference to designers who are Company employees and included in the 

design team, providing that this statement provide an analytical description and the name of the 

individual designers, for whom one must also attach copies of their identification documents.   
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35) D. In relation to the indications provided in the Tender Regulations under page 14:  ".... the 

engineering and architectural services evaluated in accordance with the previous points 

number 1) and 4) are those begun, completed and approved in the ten-year or five-year period 

prior to the publication of the Request for Tenders in the Official Gazette of the Italian 

Republic (G.U.R.I.), or those parts of the same that have been completed and approved during 

the same periods for works that were begun at an earlier date. The fact that the works 

connected to said services were not completed...", please clarify whether there has been a 

misprint and whether the preceding numbers 1) and 4) should in actual fact be points 2 and 3. 

R. On page 14, last paragraph of the Tender Regulations, the numbers 1 and 4 should be read as 2 

and 3. 

 

36) Q. Please clarify whether in order to satisfy the technical requirements reported under 

Point 7.2 B.2 and B.3 of the Tender Regulations one may use services in which there is just the 

design phase, just the final planning, just the executive planning or just the project 

management and construction site supervision. 

R. In order to satisfy the technical requirements reported under Point 7.2 B.2 and B.3, one may refer 

to services that only involve preliminary design/planning, the sole final design, just the executive 

design or just the project management and construction site supervision. 

 

37) Q. Relative to the design requirements required for participation in the tender and 

indicated under point 7.2 B2 and B3 please clarify whether the services detailed under art. 252 

performed for private clients and for which one possesses regular due completion certificates 

may be used even if the works were never been completed. 

R. The services detailed under art. 252 carried out for private clients for which one possesses the due 

completion certificates issued by the private clients can be assessed even if the works have not been 

carried out. 

 

38) D. In relation to the indications provided in the Tender Regulations under page 14: 

"....pursuant to Art. 253, paragraph 15,  of Italian Legislative Decree  no. 163 of 12 April 2006, 

up until 31 July 2016, concerning evidence of the required technical and professional ability 

and economic-financial capacity for the awarding of design services, the period of activity that 

must be documented is that related to the three best years of the five year period prior to the 

date of publication of the Request for Tenders in the Official Gazette of the Italian Republic 

(G.U.R.I.)...", provided that the transitory regulation included in art. 253, paragraph 15-bis, of 

Italian Legislative Decree no. 163 of 12 April should have outlasted its validity by 31 July 2016, 

please clarify the years that should be taken into consideration with regard to point 7.2 B1 

(Global Turnover) and B4 (Technical personnel used).  

R. Pursuant to Art. 253, paragraph 15-bis,  of Italian Legislative Decree 163/2006 “with regard to the 

allocation procedures reported under article 91, up until 31 July 2016, in order to demonstrate the 

technical professional ability and economic-financial capacity, the admissible documentation must 

refer to the works performed in the best three years of the previous five year period, or the best five 

years of the  previous ten period prior to the publication of the Request for Tenders". 
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Once the deadline of 31 July 2016 is passed, for the period of activity that must be documented in 

order to provide proof of the requisites described below, the operators must refer to:  

 Point 7.2, lett. B), n. 1 of the Tender Regulations - the global turnover for the services detailed 

under art. 252 of Italian Presidential Decree 5 no. 207/2010, achieved in the last 5 years prior 

to the date of publication of the Request for Tenders on the Official Gazette of the Italian 

Republic (G.U.R.I).  

 Point 7.2, lett. B), n. 4 of the Tender Regulations - the average annual number of technical 

personnel used in the last three years prior to the date of publication of the Request for 

Tenders in the Official Gazette of the Italian Republic (G.U.R.I). 

 

39) Q. Will the letter of invitation provide indications as to whether the execution of the 

works/management will take place in instalments and proportional to the increase in traffic 

experienced over the course of the years.  

 

R. The content of the letter of invitation shall be made available to the operators that forward a 

participation request and possess the necessary requisites. In any case, we can here disclose that the 

execution of the works will not take place in instalments and will not be linked to the increase in 

traffic over the course of the years.  

 

40) Q. With regard to point no. 18.6 of attachment no. 6 "Self-declaration affidavit regarding 

general and special requirements of the designers" ("to specify the following subjects 

(technicians belonging to the design organisation or alternatively referred or associate 

designers) certifying possession of the general and technical-professional requisites required by 

the Request for Tenders and the Tender Regulations (among the subjects indicated below it is 

compulsory to include the subjects identified under the previous point n.5), we would like to 

know whether at this stage it is sufficient to report only the minimum number of resources 

required, in other words: 

• Professional expert in charge of specialist services; 

• One engineer; 

• One architect; 

• One coordinator during the preliminary planning and design stage; 

And reserve the right to indicate the professionals who will be part of the design team at the 

tender stage.  

 

R. At this stage in the tender it is necessary and sufficient to indicate the subjects possessing the 

general and technical-professional requisites required by the tender documents. 

 

41) Q. In relation to the statements pursuant to art. 38 of Italian Legislative Decree no. 

163/2006 as detailed on pag. 4 of attachment no. 6 "Self-declaration affidavit of general and 

special requirements of the designers", please confirm whether the sole shareholder, as legal 

entity, is exempted from issuing said statement. 
 

R. We hereby confirm that the sole shareholder as legal entity is exempted from making said 

statement. 

 

42) Q. With regard to the indication provided in the Tender Regulations under point 7.2 letter 

B.1), second part ("In order to calculate the sums included under point B.1) an assessment shall 

be made of the services for which at least one final or executive design project has been carried 
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out, which shall account  for 50% or more of the assessment, while for the remaining 50% or 

less of the assessment, one shall take into consideration professional services performed 

concerning project management, coordination of safety during execution and commissioning), 

please clarify whether in order to reach the sum of € 27,000,000.00, while complying with the 

required percentages, the services to be taken into consideration must include both services (A: 

final or executive design and B: project management and/or safety coordination during 

execution and/or commissioning) or can be chosen according to preference (example:  1 - final 

design accounting for 50% or more and project management accounting for 50% or less; 2 - 

executive design accounting for 50% or more and safety coordination during execution 

accounting for 50% or less). Can one detail services for project management alone? 

 

R. In order to satisfy the requirement indicated under Point 7.2, lett. B), no. 1, so long as the 

percentages required by the Tender Regulations are complied with, the services taken into 

consideration can be chosen between final or executive design and between project management, 

safety coordination during execution and commissioning. Therefore, provided at least 50% is related 

to the design at either final or executive level, the remaining quota can matched with project 

management services alone. 

 

43) Q. With regard to the requirement of "an average annual turnover for activities performed 

in the last five years" and the company capital (net equity)requirement , we would like to know 

if the turnover and the net equity, in the  case of a holding company, can be comprised of the 

total turnover and the consolidated net equity.  

 

R. The tender documentation does not report any limitation to company structure (and therefore even 

holding companies may take part); the possession of the requirements must in any case be satisfied in 

compliance with the dispositions of Italian Legislative Decree  163/2006, including art.49. 

 

44). Q. With regard to the previous question, if the holding company was set up in 2016, we 

would like to know if the same company "can make reference to" the turnover and net equity 

of the controlled companies. 

 

R. The tender documentation does not report any limitation to company structure (and therefore even 

holding companies may take part); the possession of the requirements must in any case be satisfied in 

compliance with the dispositions of Italian Legislative Decree 163/2006, including art.49. 

 

45) Q. We would like to know if the expression "can increase the above requirements for a) and 

b) of point 7.1 of the Tender regulations up to 1.5 times" means an increase of euro 75,669,000 

and euro 37,834,500. 

   

R. Yes. 

 

46) Q. In the self-declaration affidavits relative to the general and special requisites, and 

supposing that the Italian legal provisions reported in each case in the various points of the 

format of the self-declaration affidavit drafted by the Livorno Port Authority has an equivalent 

in the competitor's foreign legal system, is one required to make specific reference to the 

legislation of the member state that applies to the provision (i.e. "pursuant to Law no. X of 

DD/MM/YYY") or is it sufficient to make a generic reference to the national legislation of the 

member state (i.e. "pursuant to applicable Spanish/French/etc. legislation")? 

 

R. The law of the member state that applies to the provision must be reported precisely.  
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47) Q. In the self-declaration affidavits relative to the general and special requirements, if the 

Italian legal provisions reported in each case in the various points of the format of the self-

declaration affidavit drafted by the Livorno Port Authority has no equivalent in the 

competitor's foreign legal system, may one simply eliminate the relative declaration or should 

one specify that "based on the national law of the member state X there is no equivalent 

provision to that provided in the Italian legal system pursuant to art. Y of Law no. Z of 

DD/MM/YYY"? 

 

R. The absence of the equivalent legal provision must be motivated with reference to he national 

legal system of the member state.  

 

48) Q. For the purpose of the statement of possession of the requisites, is it sufficient to fill in 

the self-declaration affidavits supplied as attachments to the Tender Regulations, while 

supplying the necessary documentary proof only at a later verification state or should one 

provide the documentation proving the possession of the requisites at the time of forwarding 

said declaration? 

 

R. For the purpose of the declaration of possession of the requisites both Italian tenderers and those 

with headquarters in EU countries may produce a self-declaration affidavit, drafted in accordance 

with Italian Presidential Decree no. 445/2000 and compliant with the forms provided under 

Attachments 3,5 and 7 of the Tender Regulations while any necessary documents proving the 

possession of said requisites shall be requested at a later stage.  

 

49) Q. In order to obtain the AVCPass may one use the Certified E-mail of the legal 

representatives of the economic operator (and for Temporary Business Groupings of the legal 

representative of the grouping's economic operator) on Italian soil or of other third party 

subjects including consultants (such as for example the legal advisor) of the economic operator 

on Italian soil?  

 

R. As clarified in the ANAC FAQ page on the AVCPass N.17, even foreign operators must register 

with the AVCPass system in order to participate in a tender allocation procedure for public work 

contracts in Italy.. In order to register one must access the address 

http://www.anticorruzione.it/portal/public/classic/Servizi/ServiziOnline/_RegistrazioneProfilazione. 

As for the technical registration procedure, reference should be made the User Manual provided by 

ANAC and the Technical Assistance help-desk specified in the ANAC AVCPass FAQ A.2. 

Reference should be made to the site www.avcp.it or www.anticorruzione.it 

It should be noted however that (as specified in the ANAC FAQ on the AVCPass C.2), art. 3 of the 

Authority Resolution no. 111/2012 (as updated by Resolution no. 157 of 17/2/2016) requires that the 

managing director/legal representative of the economic operator or proxy holder should have at their 

disposal a personal Certified E-mail address for the completion of the authentication/authorisation 

procedures of the subjects required to operate on the AVCPASS system. 

 

50) Q. Also on the subject of the declaration of the possession of the requisites, when it 

mentions the computerised register for economic operators is it sufficient to state that there are 

no registrations in the Italian computerised register or must one further declare that there are 

no registrations in any similar institutions of the EU member state in which the competitor is 

established? 
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R. The statement must be made also with reference to any similar institution of the EU member state 

in which the competitor is established.  

 

51) Q. For the purpose of indicating personal details (for example the fiscal code) may one use 

the fiscal code issued by the competent authority of the EU member state in which the 

competitor is established? And if there is no such tax code in the competitor's  EU member 

country may one leave the field blank in the declaration form?  

 

R. If, in complying with the Italian regulations, the foreign tenderer is not required to apply for an 

Italian tax code, it may in this instance provide the tax code issued by the competent authority of the 

EU member state in which said competitor is established; if this code is not required in the country in 

which it is established the field on the form may be left blank.  

 

52) Q. Does the call to supply the appropriate documentation and information detailed under 

art. 8.II.13 of the Tender regulations concerning social security payment compliance only apply 

to Italian competitors?  If a non-Italian subject is presenting a participation request must it 

also produce a self-declaration affidavit as proof of compliance with social security payments 

where available in accordance with its own country's legal system? If said documentation is not 

available in accordance with the regulations of the legal system of the non-Italian subject must 

it produce some form of self-declaration to this end, and, if this is the case, should this only 

refer to activities carried out in Italy? 

 

R. The documentation and information detailed under art. 8.II.13 of the Tender regulations relating to 

the Cassa Edile (Special Construction Workers' Fund) also applies to competitors from outside the 

EU if they have their own branch in Italy, if there are no international rights agreements; for EU 

competitors the compulsory registration with the Cassa Edile is required unless they prove that 

posted workers are guaranteed the same standards of protection by proving full payment of all 

required contributions to the competent authority. As far as INPS and INAIL are concerned, if the 

foreign company does not possess a DURC (Single insurance contribution payment certificate) (as it 

is not required to open a position in Italy), it must acquire the equivalent documentation, produced 

according to the regulations in force in the foreign country, that certify the possession of the same 

requisites required of Italian companies that wish to bid for tenders.  The possession of said 

requirements must be proven by appropriate documentation issued by the competent authorities in the 

foreign country, even through cooperation between authorities. Failing this, acceptable proof may be 

provided by a sworn statement, or, if this is not available, by a statement made before a judicial or 

administrative authority, a notary or a professional body qualified to receive it, pursuant to art. 38, 

para. 5 of Italian Legislative Decree no. 163/2006.  

 

53) Q. If a competitor indicates a designer and reserves the right to appoint a construction firm 

after having filed its participation request, the information required by point 14) of attachment 

3 regarding social security payments must be provided in detail?  If said competitor is Italian is 

it entitled to replace the presentation of the aforementioned information where required by 

presenting a valid DURC?  If the competitor has no employees, as a replacement for the 

aforementioned information, can it provide a self-declaration affidavit and if so to what end? 

 

R. The information detailed under point 14) of Attachment 3 concerning compliance with social 

security payments must be provided if the competitor has employees or in the event that the subject is 

in any case required to fulfil these obligations. Otherwise it is entitled to produce a self-declaration in 

which it indicates its lack of employees; this circumstance must be subsequently proven by a 

certificate issued by the appropriate Social Security Authorities. 
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54. Q. With reference to the financial capacity requirements detailed under point 7.1 of the 

Tender regulations required of the terminal management: (i) the two year period referred to 

therein starts from the date of the publication of the Request for Tenders in the Official 

Gazette as is the case for economic and financial requisites? (ii) the bank statement indicated 

therein may consist of a mere current account statement in the name of the management 

company or should it contain certain specific elements? (iii) the statement of the fully paid up 

share capital must also include provisions? 

 

R. (i) Yes. the two year period referred to therein starts from the date of the publication of the 

Request for Tenders in the Official Gazette. (ii) As specified under point 7.1 of the Tender 

regulations for companies and firms set up during the course of the two year period, the capacity 

must be proven by a special bank statement certifying the economic and financial capacity of the 

participant. (iii) the statement of the fully paid up share capital should not include provisions. 

 

55) Q. With reference to the format drafted by the Port Authority and numbered sub 3 of the 

Tender Regulations, as far as the indication of the percentage of participation and execution 

within the context of the Temporary Business Groupings is it possible to indicate share quotas 

within the Temporary Business Groupings that differ from the execution percentage or should 

they match? 

 

R. One may indicate different Temporary Business Grouping share quotas with respect to the 

execution percentages. 

 

56) Q. Art. 4.k) of the Tender regulations has included the provision whereby "for operators 

established in another member country of the European Union [...] not possessing a certified 

electronic mail account all communications by the Authority will be forwarded by fax". If said 

operator in his participation request provides the certified e-mail account of another company 

or professional or other Italian subject equipped with such a form of communication (as a 

result of a controlling or at least contractual or professional relationship with said institution or 

subject), may they then ask to receive communications via certified e-mail while clearly 

shouldering all responsibility with regard to the presumption of delivery of the certified e-mail? 

 

R. Point 4k) of the Regulations foresees the use of fax communications only if the subject is devoid 

of a certified e-mail address. It is therefore possible to indicate the certified e-mail address of a third 

party if the competitor takes on all responsibility for presumption of delivery. We here wish to draw 

the attention to the fact that, if said e-mail is not appropriately monitored, the competitor may not be 

informed about communications that concern it. We would also recall what is specified under point 

4) with reference to the registration to the AVCPass.  

 

57) Q. Please inform whether, given the prescriptions of art. 108 of the Treaty on the 

Functioning of the European Union, the notification foreseen by art. 2 of the EU regulation 

2015/1589 of 13 July 2015 has already been forwarded or when it is expected to take place. 

 

R. The Livorno Port Authority is not responsible for fulfilling the above prescription.  

 

58) Q. With reference to the form drafted by the Livorno Port Authority and attached as sub 

no. 6 of the Tender Regulations, we would like to know if the following statement contained 

therein - "to commit, as principal [MANDATARIO], if awarded the tender in question, to 

conferring a special and irrevocable collective mandate with representation to the company 
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identified for this purpose in the statement made by the same company, as agent 

[MANDATARIO], which will then stipulate the contract in its own name and behalf and of that 

of the principal and any other controlling companies"", may be modified bearing in mind that 

the wording of the statement contained in the form would seem to be one made by (i) a 

Temporary Business Groupings in the process of being formed, (ii) the principal within the 

above mentioned Temporary Grouping, in which case it would not seem to make sense that the 

statement be made by the principal - which has already been identified as such - within the 

context of the Temporary Business Groupings (whether established or in the process of 

establishing itself) on behalf of the designer subjects grouped in this fashion. Please provide 

further explanations and/or integrations of the sub 6 form based on the above comments.  

 

R. The statement contained in Attachment sub 6 to the Tender Regulations relative to Temporary 

Business Groupings (page 2) must be integrated with the following provision to be used by the agent 

[MANDATARIO]:  

"the agent/s, if awarded the tender in question, shall commit to obtaining a special and irrevocable 

collective mandate with representation from the principal/s [MANDANTE], as identified for this 

purpose in the specific individual statement/s made by the same company/ies, and subsequently to the 

stipulation of the contract in its own name and behalf and on behalf of the same principal/s." 

 

59) Q. Under letter C) of the Tender Regulations it is indicated in sub a) that the Terminal 

manager within the five years prior to the date of tender publication must have carried out 

"similar services to those foreseen in the tender works for an average annual sum not below 

Euro 22,223,000" and then in sub b) that the manager over the same period of time must have 

carried out "at least one similar service to those foreseen by the tender works for an annual 

average sum of Euro 10,089,200" further specifying that by "similar services we refer to 

services related to goods handling and more in general port operations". What is the difference 

between "similar services" and "one similar service"? The reference to "goods handling" 

relates to the relative port operation described under art. 16 of law 84/94 along with the other 

categories of loading, unloading, trans-shipment and storage that the regulation mentions- 

Could it also refer to any economic activity that involves goods handling and which could even 

include operating as a shipping company or acting as a shipping agent or engaged in road 

haulage or the management of a freight hub and not just a terminal company engaged in port 

operations?  

 

R. The Tender documentation requires that the Terminal manager, in the five years prior to the date 

of publication of the tender, must have carried out "similar services to those foreseen in the tender 

works for an average annual fee not below Euro 25,223,000", and  "at least one similar service to 

those foreseen by the tender works for an annual average fee of Euro 10,089,200", to be understood 

therefore as one single service. By similar services we are here referring to services related to goods 

handling and more in general port operations as detailed in art. 16 of Italian Law no. 84/1994. It 

should be recalled, as indicated in point 7 of the Tender Regulations, that for the purpose of 

certifying the requisites detailed under point C), lett. a) and b) and consequently providing proof of 

fulfilment, the works and their value must be certified by a certification of due completion and/or 

equivalent suitable documentation which must in any case comply with the provisions of art. 42 of 

Italian Legislative Decree no. 163/2006.  

The reference to "goods handling" should be understood as referring to all goods handling activities 

performed exclusively in a port context  It should be recalled, as indicated in point 7 of the Tender 

Regulations, that for the purpose of certifying the fulfilment of the requisite detailed under point C, 

lett. c)  and consequently providing proof of fulfilment, the goods handling must be certified by 
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official documentation produced by sector authorities as well as the financial statements of the 

economic operator. 

 

60) Q. The Management requirement foreseen under letter C) sub c) of the Tender Regulations 

of having "handled goods while performing the port operations detailed under art. 16 of Law 

84/94 for an annual value of one million TEUs over the course of the last five years" if 

understood literally would seem to restrict participation to the tender only to terminal 

managers who are already active in the port container handling sector; but considering the 

financial capacity requirements indicated in the preceding paragraphs a) and b) of letter C),  it 

is not clear whether one intends to restrict tender participation as Managers only to companies 

authorised pursuant to art. 16 and 18 of Law no. 84/94, or whether one wishes to include 

holding companies that have control or have significant shareholdings in many terminal 

facilities operating in the sector of port operations involving container traffic. 

 

R. The reference to "the financial capacity requirements indicated in the preceding paragraphs a) and 

b) of letter C)" is not clear, seeing as said letter C) specifies technical and organisational 

requirements. In any case we would like to point out that the Tender Regulations, under point 7 C) 

prescribes that "in order to perform the port operations detailed under art. 16 of the Italian Law No. 

84/1994 and therefore for the Livorno Port Authority to be able to issue the relative authorisations, 

the terminal operator must possess the requisites detailed under art. 7 of Ministerial Decree no. 585 

of 31 March 1995 "Regulations governing the issuing, suspension and revocation of authorisations to 

conduct port activities"". 

We also point out that, as indicated under point 7.2 of the Tender Regulations, "The competitors, 

pursuant to art. 95, para. 2 of Italian Presidential Decree no. 207 of 5 October 2010, as an alternative 

to the requisites contained in the aforementioned point C), lett. a) and b) can increase the the values 

of the requirements foreseen under letters a) and b) of the preceding point 7.1 by at least 1.5 times.   

Also see the answer to the next question. 

 

61) In identifying the technical/professional capacity requirement, there is no mention of the 

pooling option, previously regulated by art. 49 of Italian Legislative Decree 163/2006 - in 

compliance with artt. 47 and 48 of the EC directive 2004/18 and now regulated by art. 89 of 

Italian Legislative Decree no. 50/2016 and recalled by art.172, second paragraph where on the 

qualitative selection and assessment of the candidates it indicates that "to satisfy the 

participation conditions detailed under paragraph 1, if advisable and for very special 

concessions, the economic operator can rely on the capacity of other subject, irrespective of the 

legal nature of their relationship. If an economic operator means to rely on the capacity of 

other subjects, it must prove to the commissioning body [...] that it will have the necessary 

resources for the entire duration of the concession.  [...] Under the same conditions, a grouping 

of economic operators as provided for by article 45 can assert the capacity of the grouping 

participants or of other subjects. In both cases one applies article 89", which in general terms 

regulates pooling procedures. 

 

R. Firstly, it should be recalled that the procedure in question is regulated by Italian Legislative 

Decree no. 163/2006 given that: i) the relative request for tenders was published in the G.U.U.E. 

n.2016/S 009-011067 of 14.01.2016 and in the G.U.R.I. n.7 20.01.2016, 5a Special Series, ii) The 

Italian Legislative Decree no. 50/2016 applies, as specified by art. 216, para. 1 of the new Code, only 

to the procedures whose requests for tenders were published after its coming into force (on 

20.04.2016 as clarified by the ANAC Communiqué of 3.5.2016). 
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In any case under point 4) lett. p and point 8) the Tender Regulations contain a detailed description of 

the requisites to be complied with for tender participation in the event of a pooling procedure, 

pursuant to art. 49 of Italian Legislative Decree no. 163/2006.  

 

 


